



www.sccjr.ac.uk

KNIFE CRIME INTERVENTIONS: 'WHAT WORKS?'

October 2013





Rebecca Foster, The Scottish Centre for Crime and Justice Research

Scottish Government Social Research 2013





Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
INTRODUCTION	6
NOTE ON TERMINOLOGY	
LIMITATIONS OF THIS RESEARCH	
THE CAUSES OF KNIFE CARRYING	7
KNIFE CRIME INTERVENTIONS	7
1. Diversionary Activities	
2. Educational interventions	
The incorporation of the 'fear' element into interventions	8
An informal and formal approach to education	
The positive use of mass media	11
3. CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND MULTI-AGENCY RESPONSES	11
4. CONSIDERATION OF THE BROADER CONTEXT IN WHICH VIOLENCE TAKES PLACE	13
INDICATORS OF SUCCESS AND OUTCOMES	14
BIBLIOGRAPHY	15





EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- This review of the literature sought to identify what is known about 'what works' in reducing knife carrying and knife crime. Specifically, it sought to identify the features of successful interventions for young people; summarise evidence of good practice; and examine the outcomes of successful intervention programmes.
- There are a wide range of interventions seeking to tackle knife related crime available throughout the world. Scholars have repeatedly called for comprehensive evaluation to be undertaken with regard to these. This review has highlighted once more the need to remedy this.
- The two chief motivators for carrying a knife are: acquisition of status and fear of crime. Fear of crime is coupled with the belief that carrying a knife is protection against victimisation. Given that these are the main causes, interventions which are the most effective in addressing knife crime are ones which so address these causes.
- Diversionary activities have some potential to address knife crime. These activities, which include engagement in sport and mentoring programmes, may help prevent a young person from choosing to carry a knife.
- Current research suggests that education based interventions hold the *most* promise for effectively addressing knife crime. Education based interventions can be supported by criminal justice responses, which also have an important role to play in addressing knife crime.
- Educational interventions should aim to raise awareness about the dangers and consequences of choosing to carry a knife and engage in knife crime. Acknowledgement should be made of the very real fear many young people have of victimisation, the origins of which may be complex. This acknowledgement should involve taking young people's fears seriously. Once the fear is acknowledged, young people should be reassured that police and other agencies are working hard to ensure their safety, so rendering carrying a knife unnecessary. It should also be emphasised to young people that carrying a knife increases rather than decreases their risk of victimisation.
- Educational interventions should be delivered both in schools and within the communities, in order to reach all young people, recognising that different young people have different experiences of education.



- Educational interventions should be delivered by individuals who are knowledgeable in the area, preferably where this knowledge is a result of direct experience with knife crime, in whichever capacity. These individuals should be adept at engaging young people in this issue. How these different strengths should be combined in practice in Scotland is an area which could be explored by further research.
- Building trust is important for the administration of interventions. This helps to ensure that young people accept and fully believe that police and other agencies are working hard to ensure their safety. Trust can be maintained through the careful use of criminal justice interventions.
- Whilst stop and searches have a role to play, some commentators have expressed concern that stop and searches may exacerbate and create tensions and feelings of mistrust. This may undermine educational efforts which offer these reassurances. It is therefore important that stop and searches are undertaken with some degree of caution.
- Custodial sentences are useful in sending out a message to young people who carry knives to acquire status that the risks of any status acquisition outweigh the benefits. It is important that their function is not over-stated since they may not have a meaningful impact (deterrent effect) on those who carry a knife out of fear.
- Knife amnesties tend to be ineffective on their own, but do have an awareness raising function which can supplement and reinforce the messages contained in educational interventions.
- The mass media can be used positively to raise awareness of the issue, and supplement educational interventions.
- Whilst knives represent a particularly serious form of violence, and can have serious and irrevocable consequences, it is important to consider too the broader context in which knife related crimes occur. The findings from this review reinforce the wisdom of taking a broad approach to violence reduction.





INTRODUCTION

In recent years, there has been growing concern over knife carrying and associated knife crime, in Scotland and elsewhere. Despite this increased concern, there is a lack of robust, shared knowledge on 'what works' in reducing knife carrying and knife crime. In light of this information dearth, a report was commissioned by the Scottish Government from the Scottish Centre for Crime Justice Research. This research sought to:

- Identify features of successful violence reduction/knife crime interventions for young people, with a focus on prevention through awareness raising, education and diversionary activities;
- Identify evidence for what is good practice under these programmes;
- Identify the outcomes which successful programmes look to deliver;
 - What indicators do these programmes use to measure progress against these outcomes?
 - What evaluation methodologies are most successful in measuring delivery of outcomes under these programmes?

Note on Terminology

'Knife carrying' refers to the carrying of a knife, without lawful purpose. 'Knife crime' is a broad term which covers a wide range of offences associated with a knife. In this report, 'knife- related crime' is used as an umbrella term, covering both knife carrying and all other knife offences.

Limitations of this Research

Whilst a wide range of knife crime interventions are currently in use throughout the world, most have not been thoroughly evaluated or, more commonly, have not been evaluated at all (Hausman et al: 1995; Greene: 1998; Eades: 2006; Palasinski and Riggs: 2012; Silvestri et al: 2009]; Lowry et al: 1998; Gliga: 2009; Sethi et al: 2010). This lack or absence of evaluation of existing interventions constitutes a significant limitation of this research.

It has emerged that some of the features of Scotland's knife crime interventions including the No Knives, Better Lives (NKBL) initiative, are shared by other initiatives throughout the world and have been received positively. To some extent, this may provide reassurance to policy makers. However, in light of the lack of formal evaluation, it is not possible to conclusively state that such features are actually effective in reducing knife related offences. Moreover, given that these anti knife



Report

www.sccjr.ac.uk

carrying and knife crime interventions are relatively recent, the evaluations which do exist can only evaluate their short-term successes and failures. Thus, where successes are identified, it is not possible to say if these have any lasting effect.

Whilst the evidence presented in this report is largely not based on evaluation of the existing interventions, it is based on academic work and research theory covering a broad range of topics including young people's fears of victimisation and young people's responses to different forms of education.

The Causes of Knife Carrying

An essential part of establishing 'what works' in reducing knife carrying involves consideration of the causes for knife carrying in the first place.

It is of course not practical, or even possible, to consider the myriad of causes of knife carrying (Judit et al: 2009; Camm: 2007; Reid: 2011). However, consideration of the two most common causes for knife carrying is feasible. Research suggests that there are two chief motivators for knife carrying. The first is a fear of crime, which may or may not be due to previous experience of victimisation, whether direct or otherwise, and this fear is coupled with the belief that knives are sources of protection, and thus protect against any potential victimisation (Lemos: 2004; Simon et al: 1999; Booth et al: 2008; Pritchard: 2009; Judit et al: 2009; Barter and Berridge 2005: 201; Eades et al: 2007; Gliga: 2009; Crabbe: 2009). Some research has suggested that fear plays the "most [emphasis added] significant role in a young person's decision to carry a knife or weapon" (Lemos: 2004; Gliga: 2009). The second chief motivator is the perception that carrying a knife is a means of acquiring status (Lemos: 2004; Smith: 2008; Silvestri: 2009). As stated earlier, it seems logical that any intervention seeking to address this behaviour should pay attention to these.

KNIFE CRIME INTERVENTIONS

As stated, there are a wide range of knife crime interventions currently in use throughout the world. Some diversion based interventions will be briefly explored, and these have a number of potential strengths. However, the focus of this report will be on the features and good practice of education based interventions. Research indicates that education based interventions hold the most promise of all the available anti knife carrying, knife crime and violence interventions, and the evidence base for these currently is the strongest.

This report will therefore explore:

- 1. Diversionary activities
- 2. Educational interventions
- 3. Criminal justice and multi-agency approaches
- 4. Consideration of the broader contexts in which violence takes place





1. Diversionary Activities

Sport has recently been identified as being a "vehicle for change" (Crabbe: 2009), in reducing knife related crime and inter personal violence amongst young people. Engagement in sport may help young people keep busy with a positive distraction, and can give them a greater sense of control, direction and respect (Crabbe: 2009; Street Games Report: 2011; Agnew: 2013). A relationship between gang membership and knife carriage has been identified by other research (for example, Bannister et al: 2010, McVie: 2010; Fitzgerald: 2007), albeit the relationship is not a straightforward one. Membership of a sports team can generate some of the same positive feelings as membership of a gang can produce, thus suggesting that sport related activities may have a positive ripple effect (Crabbe: 2009).

Mentoring programmes have been suggested as potentially having an impact on inter-personal violence. This may involve mentoring between a young person and a positive adult role model; the literature suggests that fostering a positive relationship between an adult role model is a protective factor against violence (Peskin et al: 2009; Booth et al: 2008; Cameron: 2000). Mentoring may also be between peers themselves, which may build self -confidence (Booth et al: 2008); self -esteem has also been identified as a protective factor against violence (England and Jackson: 2013).

2. Educational interventions

The literature suggests that the most successful education based programmes are likely to incorporate the following elements:

The incorporation of the 'fear' element into interventions

Research suggests that interventions seeking to reduce knife carrying and associated knife crime should pay attention to one of the main reasons for carrying a knife: fear of victimisation and the resultant belief that knives are a source of protection against victimisation.

Most educational interventions seek to ensure that young people have a greater awareness of the issues relating to knife crime. These include: awareness of the potential impact of knife crime for all parties involved, including the physical, emotional and legal consequences; awareness of the sanctions if caught carrying a weapon; and awareness that carrying a weapon actually increases one's risk of being victimised (Fitzgerald: 2007; Booth et al: 2008).

There is certainly a need for such information to be delivered to young people, and understood by them. Indeed, addressing this low level of consequential thinking was



Report

www.sccjr.ac.uk

one of the reasons behind the NKBL initiative (Scottish Government Resource Document). It also seems useful to consider exactly how this information is received by young people: detailed consideration of this in the existing literature is lacking. Receipt of such information may discourage those who carry knives in an attempt to elevate social status, who may subsequently decide that the risks outweigh any benefits. However, this information may less positively be received by those who are fearful: this information makes no reference to the fear some young people have, leaving this fear unacknowledged, and unaddressed, and as such, one of the main causes also unaddressed.

Consequently, it has been suggested that addressing teenage concerns about personal safety should be a paramount consideration (Palasinski: 2013). Increasingly, scholars have called for a greater acknowledgement of, and greater attention paid to, the fears of young people regarding crime and victimisation (Stephen: 2009; White: 2004). Educational approaches are well placed to do this. Such approaches should aim to reduce perceived vulnerability to victimisation (Simon et al: 1999; White: 2010). As one scholar has identified, perception, however inaccurate, can have an "enormous bearing on how one behaves" (Aynsley-Green: 2009). Perceptions regarding vulnerability to victimisation are often shaped by mass media; this is a heavily researched topic in academia (Dowler: 2003; Meghji: 2008). Perceived vulnerability to victimisation may be addressed by calibrating the mass media's depiction of violence, including its prevalence, and educating young people about how they should interpret media sources (Palasinski: 2013). The fear shared by young people should be acknowledged, and acknowledged as a legitimate one (Palasinski and Riggs: 2012). This, however, should not be dwelled on. Once fear is acknowledged, an educational programme should stress that the police and other agencies are working hard to keep young people safe, even if criminal justice measures, such as police stop and search tactics, present them as in an opposite (adversarial) position to young people. In emphasising this, young people can be informed that resorting to self-protection by carrying a knife is unnecessary. Young people can also be informed that carrying a knife will offer little protection; in fact, it will leave them less protected than they would otherwise be.

It is acknowledged that in some instances, acknowledging fear and providing reassurance, will not be a panacea. Where violence is deeply embedded in some Scottish communities, a particular issue in the West of Scotland (Foulkes: 2007; Halbert: 2005), a culture of fear may accompany it. This fear may be similarly entrenched and as such difficult to minimise or eradicate.

However, the existing research does suggest incorporating recognition of the fear and providing reassurance, into an educational intervention, is good practice. A number of 'Fear and Fashion' projects in England and Wales have been the subject of extensive evaluation. These projects have been praised for tackling the issues young people themselves have raised, and have identified as priorities (Clear Plan: 2010). Fear of victimisation is one such commonly raised and pressing issue.



Report

These educational interventions should form part of a sustained effort to reassure young people, and adults, that their fears are taken seriously, and efforts are being made to ensure their safety. Indeed, many scholars have suggested that there is no 'quick fix' to tackle such a long standing and complex issue: sustained efforts are necessary (Booth et al: 2008; Halbert: 2005; Fitzgerald: 2007; Greene: 1998). Sustained efforts then have a chance to address a long standing culture of fear, which pervades a number of Scottish communities. Crucially, the effectiveness of programmes of reassurance will be undermined if not supported by a much wider effort to enhance safety and reduce the vulnerability of young people in their communities: this, of course, will reduce not only perceived vulnerability to victimisation, but actual vulnerability too.

Therefore, it is suggested that the main causes of knife carrying, and the features of any education based initiative should be married up. In this instance, acknowledging and minimising the fear, one of the main reasons, should be incorporated into an educational intervention. This should form part of a sustained approach aiming to reduce fear, and reduce vulnerability to victimisation.

An informal and formal approach to education

Research indicates that taking a broad approach to education is best practice. This involves using education in its traditional sense, taught in schools, but also in the community: a formal and informal approach (Lemos: 2004), or education "in all its forms" (Booth et al: 2008). Research indicates that this two pronged approach to education can effectively reach and engage young people. This approach also recognises the different experiences of and involvement with education that young people have. Crucially, an informal approach helps engage young people who may be more at risk of carrying a knife already, in light of their poor attachment to school (Kodjo et al: 2003; England and Jackson: 2013; Judit et al: 2009). In the US, informal approaches, termed 'alternative education' approaches have been met with some success. Such approaches have involved delivering an interactive and engaging programme, in sites used by young people in the communities, such as youth organisations and community health centres (Hausman et al: 1995). Ensuring the programme is engaging is particularly important where young people have not responded positively to formal education in schools (Stephenson: 2009).

Research suggests that those who deliver an educational programme about knives should have a healthy knowledge of the issue (Brookman and Maguire: 2003). This helps to ensure that the young people in receipt of the programme respect the person delivering the programme, and so give the programme its deserved attention (Downer: 2004). Those who have some experience of knife carrying and knife crime, in whatever capacity, may be appropriate persons to be involved in such programmes, as they naturally have this knowledge (Eades et al: 2007). Experiences may include being a former knife carrier or being a victim of a knife offence (Eades et al: 2007).



www.sccjr.ac.uk

al: 2007). Moreover, it is important that the person or persons who deliver a programme are adept at engaging with these young people, or at least, appear adept at engaging these young people (Clear Plan: 2010). For example, an educational intervention may involve combining the expertise of a teacher or youth worker, with a person who is knowledgeable in the area, such as a knife crime victim or a medical professional who has experience in treating knife related injuries. This is merely an example. How the combination of these features may be achieved in practice in Scotland, is not clear. It is suggested that this be explored by further research.

The positive use of mass media

Whilst the mass media may be part of the problem surrounding fear of victimisation they may also be part of the solution. Research suggests that whilst the mass media has limited effectiveness when used in isolation, when used in conjunction with education, both formal and informal, its effectiveness is raised. Media campaigns have been identified as a "promising strategy" for reducing substance misuse (Gottfredson et al: 2007), and reducing tobacco use (Swaim and Kelly: 2008). Research suggests mass media can be used to reinforce the messages from school and community-based programmes on knife crime (De Jong: 1994; Swaim and Kelly: 2008).

3. Criminal justice and multi-agency responses

Many commentators have suggested the wisdom of a multi-agency approach to address knife carrying (McCallum: 2011; Walsh: 2011; Silvestri et al: 2009; England and Jackson: 2013; Golding and McClory: 2008; Lowry et al: 1998). Criminal justice agencies, institutions and practices are of course a crucial part of this multi- agency approach.

Research suggests that criminal justice interventions have an important place in tackling knife-related crime (for example, Stephen: 2009). However, research also suggests that such responses should be measured. It is important that the balance between criminal justice interventions and educational interventions is struck appropriately, in order to ensure the best application of both. Their best application is ensuring that the two major motivations for carrying a knife are addressed.

A range of criminal justice measures have been introduced and applied to address knife carrying in Scotland and elsewhere. However, their appropriateness has been questioned. 'Stop and search' policies have successfully deterred some young people from choosing to carry a knife (Bannister et al: 2010), and as will be discussed, these are likely to be those young people who may be motivated to carry a knife for status acquisition reasons. Whilst there has been some success, low 'hit rates' have also been frequently cited (Silvestri et al: 2009; Walsh: 2011; Brookman and Maguire: 2003). Moreover, concern has been raised over the potential counter- productive effect of 'stop and search' practices. This effect is the exacerbation of existing poor



Report

www.sccjr.ac.uk

relationships between youth and the police, or the creation of poor relationships with the police (White: 2004; Kinsella: 2011; Stephen: 2009). This may be worsened further by the very way in which young people often communicate with one another, as identified by an influential study in Edinburgh in 1994: the sharing of 'cautionary tales' about the police, and police incidents, even if they themselves are not directly involved. If such tales relate to police activity which has been received negatively, then this is likely to have a significant impact on young people's perceptions of the police (Anderson et al: 1994). If these perceptions are negative and distrustful, then efforts to reassure young people that the police and other agencies are working hard to ensure their safety are undermined. Young people may feel unprotected, and thus may feel that they must instead protect themselves (Fitzgerald: 2007).

Knife amnesties have typically been accompanied with high expectations, though they also typically fail to live up to these expectations (Eades et al: 2007). Given the inherent ease with which knives are accessed, knife amnesties are also likely to be inherently limited. Even if a sizeable number of knives are seized, they tend to represent a marginal proportion of the total number of knives available. For example, in the 2006 knife amnesty, whilst an impressive 89, 864 knives were collected in England and Wales, this represented only 0.0041 knives in homes, assuming each of the 22 million households in England and Wales had only a single knife (Eades: 2006). Research has indicated that knife amnesties tend to be unsuccessful as stand-alone measures (Bannister et al: 2010; Booth et al: 2008; Sethi et al: 2010; Downer: 2004; Eades: 2006). Nonetheless, research suggests that knife amnesties may have an important awareness raising function, by supplementing the information presented in educational interventions (Eades et al: 2007).

The Criminal Justice (Scotland) Bill 2013 has been introduced, and intends to amend the Criminal Justice (Scotland) Act 1995 to increase the maximum custodial sentence for unlawful possession of a knife from four years to five years; the expectation is that this will have a deterrent effect (Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service). Some scholars have expressed reservations over the effectiveness of increased custodial sentences, suggesting that those who carry knives tend to be young people who are less likely to foresee both the short term and long term consequences of their actions (Eades et al: 2007). This could be countered by educational interventions which seek to educate young people about such consequences, and this may deter those young people who are motivated to carry knives for status acquisition. However, this is unlikely to be effective with young people whose fear may overtake any objective knowledge and understanding of carrying a knife, with all of its attendant consequences. An interview with a knife carrier highlights this well: "They only say four years to stop you but it doesn't. No- cos you can't just stop carrying a knife because you might get four, five years. You've got worries. I'd rather have a...and flick it out and start wetting man than get stabbed myself..." (Pritchard: 2009). To some extent, lengthier custodial sentences punish those who are most fearful. Evidently, education has an essential role in reassuring young people that



Report

www.sccjr.ac.uk

carrying knives is unnecessary; indeed, it may be the only way in which fears can be addressed, and the only way in which knife related crime can be reduced, amongst those who perpetrate it as a result of fear.

Indeed, it has been said that zero tolerance approaches fail to distinguish between the different reasons for knife carrying (Brown: 2004; Thomas: 2004). Criminal justice measures appear to concentrate on discouraging knife carrying and as such knife related crime, amongst those who are motivated to carry for acquisition of status reasons. This is an advisable approach to address this reason. However, it is not best placed to address fear of victimisation. Rather, educational interventions seem best placed to mediate this fear.

A multi-agency approach demands cooperation, and the careful balancing of the measures used by each agency. Academic theory and empirical evidence both highlight the importance of criminal justice interventions in, for example, deterring others, improving public safety and in conveying a message to society that the act in question is unacceptable. Therefore, criminal justice interventions are a necessary and important part of tackling any form of crime, and knife related crime is no exception. Educational interventions are equally necessary and important. Of course, the involvement and support of other agencies, not least agencies of the voluntary sector have an important part to play. It is essential then that roles of each agency within this multi -agency approach, are balanced appropriately, so that the approaches used by each, complement, rather than conflict with one another.

4. Consideration of the broader context in which violence takes place

In addition to the specific details provided above, the literature also suggests that any intervention seeking to reduce knife related crime should pay significant attention to the wider culture and context in which these activities take place. Isolating knives from other weapons, and isolating weapons from the wider issue of violence may be problematic (Fitzgerald: 2007; Grimshaw: 2008).

Knives appear to be the "weapon of choice" by those who choose to carry a weapon (Fitzgerald: 2007) at present, and the ready availability of knives may preserve this status quo. However, ultimately, the weapon of choice may be subject to change. An over-emphasis on the 'knife' may be "something of a distraction" (Silvestri et al: 2009) to a consideration of the broader context in which weapon related violence takes place, and the underlying causes of violence. If the underlying causes of violence are obscured, then the impact of any intervention seeking to reduce knife crime specifically may have a "limited impact" (Grimshaw: 2008). The impact may be hampered further, if the weapon of choice changes.

Consequently, a number of scholars have suggested that greater consideration be paid to these underlying causes (Golding et al: 2008; Webster et al: 1993; Silvestri et



Report

al: 2009; Squires: 2009). These suggestions were responded to in the 'Fear and Fashion' projects referred to earlier in this report. Such projects have shifted away from a consideration of knife crime as a "phenomenon per se" and instead moved towards a consideration of knife crime as part of an "overall pattern of youth-on-youth violence" (Clear Plan: 2010).

INDICATORS OF SUCCESS AND OUTCOMES

As stated earlier, most interventions have not been subject to evaluations, or, where evaluations have taken place, these have been limited in scope. As such, the evidence used in this report is largely based on academic studies of causes and wider aspects of young people's lives, rather than evidence from evaluation of specific interventions. This lack of evaluation means that the following indicators are only suggested indicators:

- Reduction in the number of people carrying knives;
- Reduction in knife related crime (Hitchcock: 2010);
- Increased awareness of the consequences of knife carrying and knife crime (McCallum: 2011);
- Reduction in involvement in physical fighting (Lowry et al: 1998), so recognising that the knife may be representative of a wider culture of violence. This is premised on the recognition that if violence in general is reduced, there is hope that this may in turn reduce knife carrying and other knife related offences.

It is therefore suggested that in any future evaluation of any anti knife crime intervention, these indicators only act as a guide. Instead, tailored indicators should be drawn up and applied.





BIBLIOGRAPHY

Agnew, S. (2013) 'Providers to enablers: reflections on the provision of positive activities targeting criminal and anti-social behaviour of young people Contemporary Social Science': Journal of the Academy of Social Sciences 8 (2) p. 141-155

ANDERSON S, KINSEY R, LOADER I, SMITH C (1994) Cautionary tales: young people, crime and policing in Edinburgh Aldershot, Avebury

AYNSLEY GREEN A (2009) There is a determination at all levels to reduce the gun and knife crime problem, not least among children and young people themselves Criminal Justice Matters 76 (1) p. 45-46

BAILEY SL, FLEWELLING PL and ROSENBAUM DP (1997) Characteristics of Students Who Bring Weapons to School Journal of Adolescent Health 20 (4) p. 261-270

BANNISTER J, PICKERING J, BATCHELOR S, BURMAN M, KINTREA K and MCVIE S (2010) Troublesome Youth Groups, Gangs and Knife Carrying in Scotland

BARTER C AND BERRIDGE D (ed) (2011) Children Behaving Badly? Peer Violence Between Children and Young People John Wiley and Sons Limited

Part 4 Chapter 12 Squires P and Goldsmith C Bullets, Blades and Mean Streets: Youth Violence and Criminal Justice Failure

BATEMAN T (2011) Youth Justice News Youth Justice 11: 282

BLEETMAN A, PERRY CH, CRAWFORD R and SWANN IJ (1997) Effect of Strathclyde Police Initiative "Operation Blade" on accident and emergency attendances due to assault Journal of Emergency Medicine 14 (3) p.153-156

BOOTH C, BLACK L, DEAR G, JOHN G, JOHNSON M, LEVY I, SELVAN F and WILLIAMSON H (2008) The Street Weapons Commission Report

BORTELS L (2011) Knife Crime: Recent data on carriage and use Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice Australian Institute of Criminology 417

BOTVIN GJ and GRIFFIN KW (2006) Preventing Youth Violence and Delinquency through a Universal School Based Prevention Approach Prevention Science 7 p. 403-408

BROOKMAN F and MAGUIRE M (2003) Reducing Homicide: A Review of the Possibilities Home Office Online Report 01/03

BROWN B (2004) Juveniles and Weapons: Recent Research, Conceptual Considerations, and Programmatic Interventions Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice 2 (2) p. 161-184



CAMERON M (2000) Young Men and Violence Prevention Australian Institute of Criminology Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice

CAMM J (2007) Valuing lives instead of knives Local Government Chronicle 22-24

de CASTELLA T (2007) How can we stop the killings? Young People Now 14-15

de CASTELLA T, LITTLE M and WALKER R (2010) Prevention matters: How sustained investment in prevention programmes has reduced youth offending Children and Young People Now 16: 1-7

CLEAR PLAN (2010) Fear and Fashion Programme Evaluation Final Report

CRABBE T (2009) Out of the gang and back in the game New Start 469: 12-13

DEJONG W (1994) Preventing Interpersonal Violence Among Youth An Introduction to School, Community and Mass Media Strategies National Institute of Justice Issues and Practices

DOWLER K (2003) Media consumption and public attitudes toward crime and justice: the relationship between fear of crime, punitive attitudes and perceived police effectiveness Journal of Criminal Justice and Popular Culture 10 (2) p. 109-126

DOWNER S and THOMAS C (2004) Fashion Victims New Start 6 226: 12-13

EADES C, GRIMSHAW R, SILVESTRI A and SOLOMAN E (2007) 'Knife Crime' A review of evidence and policy Centre for Crime and Justice Studies Second Edition Whose Justice? Series

EADES C (2006) The Year of the Knife Criminal Justice Matters 66 (1) p. 10-11

ENGLAND R and JACKSON R (2013) A nurse clinician's approach to knife crime prevention British Journal of Nursing 13 (2) p. 774-778

FLEMMING A (2011) Preventing Weapon Crime and Gang Membership A Toolkit for those working with Young People Author House

FOULKES C (2007) Violent Society Police Review 24-25

GILMOUR A (2008) Anna Gilmour provides a digest of recent research and policy developments Criminal Justice Matters 73 (1) p. 43-44

GLIGA T (2009) The 'Knife Crime' phenomenon- A Psychological perspective on youth crime culture Centre for Brain and Cognitive Development

GOTTFREDSON DC and BAUER EL (2007) Handbook of Injury and Violence Prevention Springer Science and Business Media LCC





www.sccjr.ac.uk

GOLDING B and MCCLORY J (2008) Getting to the point: Reducing gun and knife crime in Britain: Lessons from abroad Policy Exchange

GREENE MB (1998) Youth Violence in the City: The Role of Educational Interventions Health Education Behaviour 25 p. 175-193

GRIMSHAW R (2008) Criminal Justice Matters 72 (1) p. 44-45

HALBERT T (2005) B Cutting Crime Police Review 113 582910: 18-19

HAUSMAN AJ, SPIVAK H, PROTHROW-SMITH D (1995) Evaluation of a Community Based Youth Violence Prevention Project Journal of Adolescent Health 17 (6) p. 353-359

HITCHCOCK A (2010) Tackling Teenage Knife Crime Policing Opinion 4 (2) p. 149-151

HM GOVERNMENT (2009) Saving Lives, Reducing Harm, Protecting the Public: An Action Plan for Tackling Violence 2008-2011 One Year On

HOARE J, HOPKINS JP, BRITTON A, HALL P, SCRIBBINS M and FLATLEY J (2011) Home Office Statistical Bulletin Children's experience of attitudes towards the police, personal safety and public spaces: Findings from the 2009/10 British Crime Survey interviews with children aged 10-15 Supplementary Volume 3

HOWELL JC and HAWKINS DJ (1999) Prevention of Youth Violence Crime and Justice 24: 263-315

HUNT L (2006) At the cutting edge Local Government Chronicle 20-21

HUNTER M (2006) Farewell to Arms? Community Care 1648 9-15: 32-33

JOHNSON L (2010) Skin deep Trading Standards Today 6 119: 14-15

KINGERY PM, COGGESHALL MB and ALFROD AA (1999) Weapon carrying by Youth: Risk Factors and Prevention Education and Urban Society 31: 309

KINSELLA B (?) Tackling Knife Crime Together- A Review of Local Anti – Knife Crime Projects

KODJO CM, AWINGER P, RYAN SA (2003) Demographic, Intrinsic and Extrinsic Factors Associated with Weapon Carrying at School Archives of Paediatric and Adolescent Medicine 157 11:96

LEMOS G (2004) Fear and Fashion The use of knives and other weapons by young people Bridge House Trust Lemos and Crane

LOWRY R, POWELL KE, KANN L, COLLINS JL, KOLBE LJ (1998) Weapon carrying, Physical Fighting and Fight Related Injury among US adolescents American Journal of Preventive Medicine 14 (2) 122-129





www.sccjr.ac.uk

MARGO J and STEVENS A (2008) Make Me a Criminal: Preventing youth crime Institute for Public Policy Research

MCCALLUM F (2011) SPICe Briefing Knife Crime Scottish Parliament

MCVIE S (2010) Gang Membership and Knife Carrying: Findings from the Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime

MEGHJI S (2008) The Deaths Must Stop Children and Young People Now Youth Crime special report: knives education Children and Young People Now

MEGHJI S (2008) Capital Crime Youth crime special report: working with police Children and Young People Now

PALASINSKI M (2013) Security, respect and culture in British teenagers' discourses of knife carrying Safer Communities 12 (2) p. 71-78

PALASINSKI M and RIGGS DW (2012) Young White British Men and Knife Carrying in Public: Discourses of Masculinity, Protection and Vulnerability Critical Criminology 20 p. 463-476

PESKIN MF, TORTOLERO SR, ADDY RC and WELLER NE (2009) Weapon Carrying Prevention Should Adults spend more time with youth? Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice 7 (1) p. 32-45

PRITCHARD T (2009) Why carry a weapon? Howard League research into teenage knife crime The Howard 2:2

PUFFET N (2009) Sporting events join the battle against knife crime Children and Young People Now 8-9

REID R (2011) Scotland's Knife Culture Holyrood 252: 14-16

RIGGS D and PALASINSKI M (2011) Letter Tackling knife violence: Young men view things differently British Medical Journal p. 342

SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT NEWS 30/10/11 No Knives, Better Lives

SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT Resource Doc No Knives, Better Lives http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/254432/0096154.pdf

SETHI D, HUGHES K, BELLIS M, MITIS F, RACIOPPI F (2010) European Report on Preventing Violence and Knife Carrying Among Young People World Health Organisation (Europe)

SHEPHERD J and BRENNAN I (2008) Editorial Tackling knife violence British Medical Journal p. 337





SIMON TR, CROSBY AE and DAHLBERG (1999) Students who carry weapons to high school: comparison with other weapon carriers Journal of Adolescent Health 24 (5) p. 340-348

SILVESTRI A, OLDFIELD M, SQUIRES P and GRIMSHAW R (2009) Young People, Knives and Guns Centre for Crime and Justice Studies

SILVESTRI A (2009) Young people, 'knife' and 'gun crime': policy in an evidence vacuum? Criminal Justice Matters 76 (1) p. 48-49

SMITH R (2008) Are Knives Ads Working? Youth crime special report: young people's views Children and Young People Now

SQUIRES P (2009) The knife crime 'epidemic' and British politics British Politics 4 (1) p.127-157

STEPHEN DE (2009) Time to stop twisting the knife: a critical commentary on the rights and wrongs of criminal justice responses to problem youth in the UK Journal of Social Welfare and Family Law 31 (2) p. 193-206

STEPHENSON J (2010) Project Casebook Youth Work Now 16-17

STREET GAMES (2011) Sport and Youth Offending Report

SWAIM RC and KELLY K (2008) Efficacy of a Randomised Trial of a Community and School based Anti -Violence Media Intervention Among Small Town Middle School Youth Prevention Science 9: 202-214

TAYLOR E (2010) Tackling Knives Action Programme: Key Findings Probation Journal 57: 187-188

THURNHERR J, MICHAUD PA, BERCHTOLD A, AKRE C and SURIS JS (2009) Youths carrying a weapon or using a weapon in a fight: what makes the difference? Health Education Research 24 (2) p. 270-279

TOBIN T and SPRAGUE T (2000) Alternative Education Strategies: Reducing Violence in School and the Community Journal of Emotional and Behavioural Disorder 8 (3) p. 177-186

WALSH M (2011) Knife Crime: The Reality and Its Implications A Report prepared for the Kiyan Prince Foundation

WARD L, NICHOLAS S and WILLOUGHBY M An assessment of the Tackling Knives and Serious Youth Violence Action Programme (TKAP) Phase 11 Research Report 53 Summary

WARD L and DIAMON A Tackling Knives Action Programme (TKAP) Phase 1: Overview of key trends from a monitoring programme Research Report 18 Key Findings





WEBSTER DW, GAINER PS and CHAMPION HR (1993) Weapons Carrying among Inner-City Junior High School Students: Defensive Behavior vs Aggressive Delinquency American Journal of Public Health 83 (11) p. 1604- 1608

WILSON SJ, LIPSY MW and DERZON JH (2003) The Effects of School-Based Intervention Programs on Aggressive Behaviour: A Meta-Analysis Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 71 (1) p. 136-149

WHITE R (2004) Police and Community Responses to Youth Gangs Australian Institute of Criminology Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice 274 p. 1-6

YOUGOV (2009) Solutions to gun and knife crime: Final Report 11 Million